
PART II


THE VICKSBURG DISTRICT


AND THE COMING OF WAR

The Corps and the Vicksburg District
In structure, the Corps of Engineers is headed by the Chief of Engineers, headquartered in Washington, D. C. As an administrative entity, Corps headquarters is referred to as the office of the Chief of Engineers, commonly shortened to the acronym OCE.  During World War II, the position of Chief of Engineers was held first by Maj.  Gen.  Julian Schley until October 1941 and then by Lt.  Gen.  Eugene Reybold until October 1945.

Under OCE administration, in 1940, the United States and its dependencies were divided into thirteen Corps of Engineers divisions based on geographical considerations.  These included, for example, the New England, Ohio River, and South Atlantic Divisions.  Each was headed by a regular Army officer with the title Division Engineer.  Divisions were in turn subdivided into districts.  The Vicksburg District was--and remains--one of six districts of the Mississippi Valley Division (MVD) , the remaining five being headquartered at St. Louis, Memphis, New Orleans, Rock Island, and St. Paul.

The Lower Mississippi Valley Division stretched through the Mississippi River valley roughly from St. Louis south to the mouth of the Mississippi.  The Vicksburg District typically included the vital stretch of the Mississippi River from just below Memphis to the mouth of the Red River, which enters the Mississippi about 150 river miles north of New Orleans.  It extended eastward into the state of Mississippi to include the basins of the tributaries of the Mississippi, such as the Yazoo and Big Black rivers.  To the west, the district incorporated southeastern Arkansas and all of Louisiana north of the Old River floodway, including the basins of the Red and Ouachita rivers.

The district's borders have been altered periodically for various reasons.  For example, early in World War II, the district temporarily extended eastward as far as Meridian, Mississippi, to encompass military construction there.  In 1943, the district withdrew to the west of Jackson, Mississippi, as the Corps Mobile District took over residual construction activities to the east.  In 1981, the district again stretched east to take in the Pearl River Basin, which had suffered severe flooding two years earlier.

Prior to the outbreak of war in Europe in 1939, the Vicksburg District had spent most of its fifty-five year existence primarily in a battle to control flooding of the Mississippi River and to improve navigation on the Mississippi and its tributaries.  Levee building, revetment, snagging, dredging, and cutoff construction had by 1937 brought a degree of control to the "Big River," as the great flood of that year was held in check.  In addition, in the late 1930s, the district was involved in the construction of the massive flood control reservoir at Sardis, Mississippi, in the Upper Yazoo Basin.

Samuel Sturgis, District Engineer
Corps of Engineer districts are headed by a regular Army officer with the title District Engineer (DE).    The District Engineer in turn often has only one active Army assistant on his peacetime staff.  All other employees are civilians, though many typically were, and are, members of the Army Reserve.

As war approached, the Vicksburg District was fortunate to have DE Maj. Samuel D. Sturgis, who assumed the office in September 1940.  A native of Minnesota and West Point graduate of 1918, Sturgis had quite a military pedigree.  He was the grandson of Brig.  Gen.  Samuel D. Sturgis, son of Maj.  Gen. Samuel D. Sturgis, and nephew of Lt.  James G. Sturgis, whose career ended prematurely with George Armstrong Custer at Little Big Horn in 1876.   The Sturgis family had one previous unfortunate Mississippi connection:  The first Gen. Sturgis had been routed at the Battle of Brice's Crossroads by Nathan Bedford Forrest on June 10, 1864, one  of the classic beatings of the Civil War.  Perhaps the Vicksburg DE saw his appointment as a potential triumphal return.

The District Shifts

to Military Construction
In 1940 the district began to stir as the Army Air Corps responded to Congress' call for the new pilot training programs.  Sturgis received orders in November to take over construction of all Army Air Corps projects in his district which had been assigned to the Quartermaster Corps.  In fact, the only existing base assumed by the district at that time was Barksdale Field, Shreveport, Louisiana.  A permanent facility, Barksdale was already the major training facility in the entire region.  There, construction of the primary runways was completed, so that the district took over peripheral projects without particular incident.

Activities escalated when in December 1940 the Vicksburg District inherited a full-scale Air Corps project at Jackson, Mississippi, and in January 1941, assumed responsibility for a similar base at Meridian, Mississippi.  Army planners had first assigned both to the QMC, then had transferred them to the Mobile District.  Upon further consideration of available resources and construction assignments of its Vicksburg and Mobile organizations, OCE redirected the ventures to Vicksburg.

 The Meridian Headache 
Sturgis found the situation at both Air Corps locations far from satisfactory.  The Meridian site, however, proved a particular source of consternation.

An Air Corps Site Selection Board had, in 1940, chosen Key Field, the municipal airport at Meridian, as a site for a tactical base.  Plans called for a cantonment of 106 permanent buildings, a 75-bed hospital, a tent camp, and greatly expanded and improved runways.   The Quartermasters had already begun the work of expanding the existing runway when the project was transferred to the Corps of Engineers.

On his first inspection tour to Meridian in January 1941, Sturgis received a rude shock.  The base area bordered Okatibee Creek, which frequently overflowed and every two or three years inundated the area.  The DE noted that a costly levee would have to be raised before further construction could proceed, even at the risk of increasing the glide angle of aircraft above safe limits.

Further, the Meridian runways had been paved with soil cement, a mixture of cement and natural soil.  Sturgis, seldom one to mince words, called the surfacing "a complete waste of money" laid by "construction ignoramists."  Soil cement had been moderately successful where subgrades were sandy, but was a total failure in plastic soils like the Meridian clay.  There, the impervious subgrade produced so weak a runway that the wheels of newer, heavier planes "cut through it like a knife." Stronger pavement or asphalt would be necessary.  

Sturgis Takes on the Base Commander 
Personal conflict between Sturgis and Col. William B. Wright, the Air Base commanding officer, soon compounded the Meridian dilemma. Wright and a handful of subordinates arrived at the facility in March 1941, as it was the practice of the Air Corps to dispatch commanding officers and their staffs to construction sites even before housing facilities were available.  Wright was determined to make his new bailiwick a model facility and was heard to comment that the Meridian base would be "the best in the South." Wright or members of his staff regularly flew or motored to air bases throughout the country, returning with suggestions to this end.

Subsequently, Wright bombarded Sturgis and the Corps project engineer, G. A. Langhofer, almost daily with requests to enhance or alter various aspects of the base as it was under construction.  Up to twelve "requests" per day were not unusual.  Unfortunately, many of these went beyond Sturgis' directives, were extravagant, or in some cases outright conflicted with War Department standards.

Wright demanded "necessary" electric water coolers for all main buildings at the station at an expense of $10,626, although a War Department circular clearly stated that no such luxuries would be provided.  Further communications insisted that all the main highways on the base be paved "in accordance with the specifications of the best main stem highways throughout the United States." Sturgis' instructions, however, were to construct camp roads with "a maximum of economy consistent with the traffic that will be used upon them." On a more frivolous note, Wright complained that the outhouse for Corps personnel at their work site headquarters was painted magnificently in the Corps logo while others were left bare.

The Conflict Expands

By May 1941, Wright had submitted 145 requests for alterations to Langhofer or Sturgis, nearly all of which were denied.  The crowning blow fell on May 22 when he sent a formal complaint to the chief of the Air Corps accusing Sturgis of "failure on the part of the District Engineer to accede to requests of the Base Commander," and requesting that "control of all funds now in the hands of the Corps of Engineers be placed under the Commanding Officer, Meridian Air Base."  Such a request violated all established policy.  Wright's complaint was forwarded to Chief of Engineers Schley, who in June sent Col.  Charles H. Patterson, Inspector General, to investigate. 

Even before the arrival of Patterson, the Meridian situation had been brought to the attention of Brig. Gen. Max Tyler, Division Engineer of the Lower Mississippi Valley Division.  Tyler, after visiting the site, concluded that the requests and actions of Wright were unreasonable and that Sturgis and Langhofer were justified in refusing to accede to his demands.  In a letter of  May 22, the same date as Wright’s letter to the Chief of the Air Corps, Tyler specifically prohibited Sturgis from altering standard Air Corps cantonment plans without prior approval.

The Inspector General

In July, Inspector General Patterson took testimony from the principals involved, including Tyler, Sturgis, Wright, and Langhofer, which indicated that the base commander's requests for alterations would have added approximately $312,000 to the cost of construction.  However, only $39,000 had actually been approved.  Langhofer testified that 70 percent of his time was wasted trying to keep up with requests for revisions by Wright, while Sturgis emphasized that there were no such difficulties involved in other simultaneous projects such as Jackson Air Base and Barksdale Field.  After praising the commanding officers at the latter locations, the DE in his testimony concluded that he could not recall "one single instance in which the Commanding officer, Meridian Air Base, had ever cooperated insofar as securing reasonably satisfactory results with reference to economy is concerned."

On the strength of this testimony and other evidence, Patterson’s report to OCE amounted to a complete vindication of the district engineer and a stinging criticism of Wright.  Specifically, Patterson castigated the base commander for attempting to give orders directly to Corps personnel and contractors rather than transmitting them through proper channels, for passing judgment on technical matters such as plans for utilities which required "patient and detailed explanations from Engineer representatives," and for requesting such a large volume of alterations and additions as to impose "an intolerable burden" on the project and district engineers.

Patterson, on the other hand, stated that Sturgis had "handled the construction of Meridian Air Base in a commendable manner." Schley endorsed the report of the Inspector General.  All remaining construction funds were to remain with the office of the Vicksburg District Engineer. Schley also requested that the Chief of the Air Corps insure that Wright be prevented from interfering further with construction at the base and stated unequivocally that the wisdom of placing construction of air bases in the hands of the Corps of Engineers and its district engineers had been justified.

Sturgis Takes on the City and the WPA
In the meantime, Sturgis had done battle with the government of Meridian and the New Deal.  To encourage the Air Corps to choose Key Field as a construction site, the city had promised to provide complete water and sewer facilities.  To that end the city had arranged to act as local sponsor for a Works Progress Administration (WPA) project at Key Field.  The project 

would include various clearing, grading, drainage, and building work in addition to the laying of water and sewer lines.  This led to interminable confusion because the Corps and WPA projects were totally separate with no coordination whatsoever.

By April 1941, the water-sewer lines had yet to be laid, Corps personnel were still using the infamous outhouse, and the city government tried to back out of the entire arrangement.  This breach of confidence led Sturgis to complain to OCE, which in turn on April 17 ordered the DE to stop all work, despite the fact that construction was well under way, until the city made an "unconditional agreement" to provide the promised services.  This promise was forthcoming two days later, but the episode did not portend smooth sailing between the Corps and local interests in the future.

The WPA irritant proved to be a lingering sore.  By September, when most runway paving should have been completed, the WPA drainage projects were far behind schedule and were holding up the entire effort.  This led to a barrage of complaints by Sturgis who referred to the WPA as "hopeless" and demanded that the entire operation be taken over by the Corps.  To further complicate matters, union laborers at the site threatened to strike if work was delayed, while the International Office of the Electrical Workers' Union complained directly to OCE about the presence of WPA electricians at Meridian who competed with their unionized counterparts at lower pay.  WPA electricians were paid $0.57 per hour compared to $1.25 for union labor.  Though most runway paving was completed at the base by late fall 1941, poor drainage due to faulty site selection and poor WPA workmanship continued to plague the facility throughout its use.

Jackson Army Air Base
Construction of the Air Corps base at Jackson, originally planned as a 2,500‑man facility for the 38th Bombardment Group, was also not without incident.  As Sturgis knew nothing of the site, he motored to Jackson the afternoon the assignment arrived in December 1940 to get a personal look.  Part of the base was to utilize the existing municipal Hawkins Field, with other construction to be mainly on a purchased area slightly to the west.  The veteran engineer quickly noted that a creek ran diagonally across the latter area, and his suspicions were aroused as to its flooding potential.  He was particularly concerned that for a great distance around there were no buildings less than ten to twelve feet above the stream banks, leading him to conclude that flooding was not uncommon.  As became the pattern, drainage improvements and flood protection works would be necessary before military construction could begin.

The Jackson project also introduced Sturgis to the realities of state and local politics.  The Jackson City Engineer, he noted, was a "darned good man," but otherwise "the mayor and his henchmen seemed just about as political a group as you will ever want to find." Almost immediately the DE was hounded by contractors with connections at Jackson City Hall "hinting at this, that, and the other." At a higher level entirely, Sturgis received a telegram in January 1941 from U. S. Senator Theodore G. Bilbo demanding to know immediately by wire what contractors were being considered for the Jackson base, in order to make "suggestions."

Bilbo: The Senatorial Touch
Bilbo, the junior senator from Mississippi, during the remainder of 1941 took more than a passing interest in Corps projects throughout his state.  The Meridian Air Corps site, ​already evolving into Sturgis' major headache, fittingly became the primary target.  In February, despite being informed that such decisions were entirely in the hands of the Corps of Engineers, Bilbo wrote directly to Secretary of War Henry Stimson insisting that a Jackson, Mississippi, construction company be approved by the Corps for parts of the Meridian project.  In March the senator personally lobbied Chief of Engineers Schley on behalf of another Jackson firm.  Neither effort was successful.

In February Schley also received a letter from Bilbo encouraging the use of brick instead of concrete whenever possible at the Meridian facility.  Not coincidentally, this had been suggested to the senator by the Meridian Brick Co. of nearby Bonita, Mississippi.  In an act of supreme irony, although a bitter foe of organized labor, Bilbo at the behest of the local bricklayers union recommended to Schley in July that all officers' quarters at Meridian be of brick!

Greenville Army Air Base
In February 1941, an Air Corps Site Selection Board picked Greenville, Mississippi, as the location of a training center for the Second Aviation Initiative, designating three potential construction sites.  Unlike the previous bases at Barksdale, Jackson, and Meridian, the Greenville site was assigned originally to the Vicksburg District and would be Sturgis' project from the start.   However, the Mississippi Delta with its swamps, alluvial soil, heavy rains, drainage problems, and thick fogs seemed to Sturgis an unlikely place to put an air base.  He recommended that the Air Corps abandon the area and build farther north. 

When the Site Selection Board insisted on staying in the Greenville area, the DE settled for what he could get:  he persuaded the Air Corps to give up on the three sites under consideration and choose another, the highest and most easily drained in the vicinity.  Even this had an obligatory creek.  The project was further stymied when Sturgis, after numerous delays, in June finally received plans from the Air Corps for construction of an air base at Greenville--South Carolina.

Nonetheless, by mid-June construction at the 2,000‑acre, 140‑building site was in full progress.  One key to this rapid action was that Sturgis negotiated the primary contract with Black and Veach, a Kansas City architectural and engineering firm which was finishing its work at Jackson Air Base and still had equipment there.  Despite political pressure to the contrary, Sturgis was already finding it easier to deal with out-of-state firms which were a known quantity and were familiar with governmental regulations, methods, and specifications.  William Harrison, the Corps project engineer at Jackson also transferred to Greenville, insuring a smooth transition.  Sturgis later referred to Harrison as the finest project engineer he had ever seen.

The Air Corps activated the Greenville base in August 1940, only two months after construction commenced.  The first planes arrived on  November 5, and the training of pilots forthwith began‑‑​one full month ahead of schedule.
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